RECEIVED

04-11-2016

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

STATE OF WISCONSIN

COURT OF APPEALS

DISTRICT I

Case No. 15-AP-2605-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

-vs-

DAVID L. JOHNSON A/K/A DAVID ALI SHABAZZ,

Defendant-Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION AND ORDER DENYING POSTCONVICTION RELIEF ENTERED IN THE CIRCUIT COURT OF MILWAUKEE COUNTY, THE HONORABLE DAVID L. BOROWSKI AND THE HONORABLE JOSEPH M. DONALD, PRESIDING

BRIEF OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

ROBERT J. EDDINGTON State Bar No. 1078868 250 E. Wisconsin Avenue #1800 Milwaukee, WI 53202 414-347-5639 rje@eddingtonlawoffice.com Attorney for Defendant-Appellant

ISSUES PRESENTED

I. Was Shabazz entitled to an evidentiary hearing on his claims of ineffective assistance of counsel where his postconviction motion alleged in detail his trial counsel's failure to obtain and present exculpatory evidence to the jury and to present an adequate defense on the counts on which he was convicted, and where the trial court looked beyond the allegations contained within four corners of the motion and required Shabazz to prove his allegations without affording him an opportunity to do so?

The trial court answered no.

II. Were two DNA analysis surcharges, which were expressly imposed by the sentencing court with the stated purpose and effect of "punishment," unconstitutional under the *ex post facto* clauses of the United States and Wisconsin constitutions?

The trial court answered no, in part, vacating only one DNA analysis surcharge.

III. Was Shabazz entitled to resentencing following an evidentiary hearing to correct errors in the presentence investigation report (PSI) where his postconviction motion showed that the sentencing court relied on inaccurate information in imposing sentence?

The trial court answered no.

IV. Should the judgment of conviction and order denying postconviction relief be reversed and a new trial ordered pursuant to this Court's broad power of

discretionary reversal because the real controversy in this case has not been fully tried and because justice has been miscarried?

The trial court did not address this argument.

POSITION ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

The central issues raised by this appeal involve application of established law to the facts of this case, and therefore, publication is not likely necessary. The issues raised in this appeal are likely to be adequately addressed in the briefs submitted by the parties to this action. Therefore, oral argument is not requested.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Following a four-day jury trial on charges of first-degree sexual assault, aggravated battery, false imprisonment, and strangulation/suffocation during which defense counsel called no witnesses, the jury acquitted Defendant-Appellant David Ali Shabazz¹ of sexual assault and strangulation/suffocation after deliberating for approximately three hours. (R.109, App. 265 at 3:11, R.48; R.51). The jury convicted Shabazz of aggravated battery and false imprisonment. (R.49; R.50; R.60, App. 103).

¹ Defendant-Appellant's name was changed from David L. Johnson to David Ali Shabazz on or about December 11, 2003. *See In re Name Change of David Lee Johnson*, 2003-CV-7175 (Milwaukee County).

For all the reasons that follow, the trial court² erred when it denied Shabazz's postconviction motion for a new trial without a hearing based on the failure of his trial counsel to obtain and present exculpatory evidence and failing to present an adequate defense with respect to the charges of aggravated battery and false imprisonment. These failures prevented the jury from considering key evidence that Shabazz was not the source of the alleged victim's injuries and did not restrain the alleged victim, thereby depriving Shabazz of his constitutionally guaranteed right to the effective assistance of counsel.

The trial court further erred in declining to vacate both DNA analysis surcharges imposed on Shabazz in the judgment of conviction and again erred when it denied his request for resentencing following a hearing to address errors in the presentence investigation.

As shown in detail throughout, the real controversy in this case—that Shabazz did not restrain the alleged victim and that he was not the source of her injuries—has not been fully tried. In light of the failures by trial counsel described herein, it is highly probable that a different result would obtain upon retrial. For these additional reasons, this Court should exercise its broad power of discretionary reversal in the interest of justice.

² The Honorable David L. Borowski presided over the trial and entered the judgment of conviction. The Honorable Joseph M. Donald denied the postconviction motion.

A. Shabazz's Trial Resulted In His Acquittal On Two Counts And His Conviction On Two Counts.

The State charged Shabazz with four felonies in this case: (1) first-degree sexual assault (by use of a dangerous weapon), contrary to Wis. Stat. § 940.225(1)(b); (2) aggravated battery contrary to Wis. Stat. § 940.19(4); (3) false imprisonment contrary to Wis. Stat. § 940.30; and (4) strangulation and suffocation contrary to Wis. Stat. § 940.235(1). (R.2). Following lengthy pretrial proceedings, the case was tried to a jury beginning May 19, 2014. (R.103).

The focus of Shabazz's trial concerned allegations that arose from a meeting between Shabazz and K.M. (the alleged victim) on September 27, 2012. The State's case against Shabazz was based on testimony from K.M, K.M's husband, Dorothy Nolden (a neighbor of Shabazz), several officers, an emergency room nurse, as well as certain DNA and physical evidence. Although there were seven witnesses on Shabazz's amended defense witness list (R.41), trial counsel called no witnesses and rested immediately after the presentation of the State's case. (R.110, App. 273 at 43:11-13).

From the outset of the case, defense counsel's admonition to the jury was to "remember one thing and one thing only...[t]he truth lies in the evidence and not the explanations of the [alleged victim and her husband]." (R.104, App. 181 at 82:2-3).

1. Shabazz's trial highlights inconsistent testimony of the alleged victim and other witnesses.

The State called K.M. to testify in support of its case in chief. (R.105, App. 183). K.M. testified that she first met Shabazz while she was walking from her home to a CVS pharmacy. (R. 105, App. 184 at 7:15-19). According to her testimony, Shabazz was in a car with his dog. (*Id.*, App. 185 at 8:11-15). K.M. testified that Shabazz indicated that he was moving, and that she agreed to go to his apartment to help him pack. (*Id.*, App. 187 at 10:4-6). K.M. claimed that she visited Shabazz's apartment only twice—once on Tuesday, September 25, 2012 and again on Thursday, September 27, 2012. (*Id.*, App. 207 at 55:5-9, App. 209 at 60:4-12).

K.M's husband, however, contradicted her testimony, stating that K.M. had gone to Shabazz's apartment *three* times, not two. (R.106, App. 222-23 at 14:8-15:9). Officer Deborah Kranz, who interviewed K.M. at the hospital, also testified that K.M. claimed that she went to Shabazz's apartment the day before the alleged assault (for a total of three, not two, visits). (R.108, App. 254-55 at 34:9-35:7).

K.M. testified that on Thursday, September 27, 2012, she went to Shabazz's apartment at approximately 8:00 p.m., arriving between 8:30 and 8:45 p.m. (R.105, App. 209 at 60:15-16; and R.82, App. 177 at 15:12-14). According to K.M., after arriving at Shabazz's apartment, she cooked him dinner. (R.105, App. 188-89 at 14:15-15:17). K.M. also admitted that she was under the influence of alcohol and crack cocaine at the time and that she shared drugs with Shabazz. (*Id.*, App. 190 at 23:21-23; App. 210 at 66:14-16).

According to K.M., approximately 45 minutes after she arrived at Shabazz's apartment (roughly 9:15 – 9:30 p.m.), (R.82, App. 177 at 15:5-7), Shabazz "snapped," his mood allegedly changed, and he purportedly dragged her into the bedroom by her hair, with her feet dragging on the floor. (R.105, App. 192 at 25:1-19; App. 193 at 26:24-27:2; App. 213 at 69:5-7). K.M. claimed that once they were in his bedroom, Shabazz hit her repeatedly with the back of his hand, choked her with his hands and a belt, and threatened to kill her. (*Id.*, App. 194 at 27:7-24; App. 196 at 29:6-8).

At the preliminary hearing, K.M. had initially testified that Shabazz sexually assaulted her by forcing her to perform mouth-to-penis sexual intercourse, but conceded that Shabazz was not able to perform penis-to-vagina intercourse. (R.82, App. 173 at 11:10-17; App. 175 at 13:3-8). At trial, however, K.M. changed her testimony to claim that Shabazz *did* "force his penis into [her] vagina," but was not able to perform anal sex. (R.105, App. 197 at 32:3-10). In yet another inconsistency, K.M. had previously claimed to law enforcement that she had been anally penetrated. (R.106, App. 235 at 62:5-14; R.108, App. 259 at 39:22-24).

K.M. also testified inconsistently regarding Shabazz's purported use of a belt. For example, she first testified that Shabazz *choked* her with a belt while she was in bed with him in the bedroom, (R.105, App. 197 at 32:15-18), but later claimed that Shabazz only used the belt while she was in a kneeling position attempting to perform oral sex, and *not* on the bed. (*Id.*, App. 214 at 76:11-15).

The State also relied on the testimony of Dorothy Nolden, a neighbor of Shabazz, who claimed to hear multiple screams from approximately 1:30 a.m. to 2:00 a.m. in the

early morning hours of September 28, 2012. (R.106, App. 225-27 at 22:23-24:3), although she conceded she initially thought the scream was a cat. (*Id.*, App. 226 at 23:5-6). Officer Waldenmeyer, who first interviewed Ms. Nolden, testified that Ms. Nolden initially reported that she heard only a *single* scream (not multiple screams), and that she thought the scream had *not* come from Shabazz's apartment. (*Id.*, App. 231-32 at 48:24-49:2; App. 233-34 at 56:22-57:5).

Officer Kranz testified that K.M. had admitted that she had gone to Shabazz's apartment the day before the alleged assault because K.M. had received a phone call from a person by the name of "John" whom she had known for several years and saw at various places such as Wal-Mart and other stores. (R.108, App. 254-55 at 34:9-35:7). According to Officer Kranz's testimony, K.M. claimed that John needed to call Shabazz about going to his apartment. (*Id.*). At trial, K.M. denied making those statements, (R.105, App. 208 at 59:12-17), and no information was obtained to confirm John's identity. (R.108, App. 255 at 35:8-14).

Following the alleged assault, K.M. claimed that she had passed out from the belt, and when she woke up, she grabbed a shirt, went to look at herself in the mirror, and left through the front door. (R.105, App. 201-03 at 36:7-38:6). K.M. claimed that she ran through a cemetery to get to her house, arriving home between 3:30 a.m. and 4:00 a.m. on September 28, 2012. (*Id.*, App. 203 at 38:8-16; R.106, App. 217 at 6:16-23). Rather than calling the police, K.M.'s husband got in his car with K.M. and armed himself with a crowbar. (R.106, App. 218 at 7:10-21; App. 221 at 13:7-12). K.M. showed her husband the way back to Shabazz's apartment, and the two returned to the parking lot of Shabazz's apartment complex. (*Id.*) After K.M. pointed out Shabazz's car, K.M's husband "used a crowbar and smashed

[Shabazz's] car back window." (*Id.*, App. 219-20 at 8:8-9:7.) K.M.'s husband claimed that he damaged Shabazz's car and broke the car's window because he was "worried" about his wife. (*Id.*, App. 219 at 8:8-12).

2. Physical evidence and other trial testimony undermines the alleged victim's claims.

DNA evidence, physical evidence, and other witness testimony also significantly undermined K.M's claims. First, the semen found in K.M.'s underwear was that of her husband, not of Shabazz. (R.107, App. 244-45 at 53:18-54:20). Second—and notwithstanding K.M.'s claims of a brutal sexual assault—there was no DNA evidence of Shabazz in or around K.M's mouth, vagina, or anus. (*Id.*, App. 240-44 at 49:16-53:4). Third, Officer Kranz testified that K.M. had told her that Shabazz purportedly *pushed* her in the back towards the bedroom, rather than *dragged* her into the bedroom by her hair as K.M. testified at trial. (R.108, App. 257 at 37:17-25).

Officer Kranz also stated that she expected more marks on K.M. had she been strangled as she testified. (*Id.*, App. 258-59 at 38:11-39:13). Further, Geve Meyer, the emergency room nurse who examined K.M., corroborated that she could not make a medical determination that the so-called *petechiae* (*i.e.*, small red dots and discoloration around the eyes) resulted from strangulation, rather than crying or rubbing with tissue. (*Id.*, App. 260-61 at 67:20-68:23).

With respect to the charge of aggravated battery, the State introduced photographs of injuries sustained by K.M., which injuries were described by the alleged victim and other witnesses. (R.105, App. 204-06 at 46:22-48:21; R.107, App. 246-49 at 59:15-62:25). Although the DNA laboratory

analyst stated that K.M. was the "source of the foreign DNA on the left palm swabs" taken from Shabazz, (R.107, App. 238-39 at 39:17-40:7), no blood or biological evidence was found in the apartment. (R.110, App. 268 at 24:19-23; App. 269 at 34:16-35:6). Nor were there injuries documented on Shabazz suggestive that he had repeatedly struck K.M., as she had claimed. (*Id.*, App. 282-83 at 89:24-90:6).

With respect to the charge of false imprisonment, the State relied essentially on this same evidence, including an officer's testimony that Shabazz's bedroom was "in a disarray" and not "very tidy." (R.108, App. 262 at 90:18-22). To argue that Shabazz confined K.M. without consent, the State again relied on testimony from Dorothy Nolden, who testified she heard multiple screams—though her testimony was contradicted by her previous report of a single scream she claimed did not come from Shabazz's apartment. (R.110, App. 277 at 77:18-24; R.106, App. 231-32 at 48:24-49:2; App. 233-34 at 56:22-57:5).

B. Trial Counsel Rests Without Calling Any Witnesses Or Presenting A Defense Case.

Defense counsel rested immediately after the State concluded its case, and trial counsel did not call a single witness—even though seven witnesses appeared on the amended defense witness list. (R.43, App. 113; R.110, App. 273 at 43:11-13). As alleged in Shabazz's postconviction motion, trial counsel did not obtain Shabazz's agreement to rest the case at that time. (R.70, App. 120).

During closing arguments, defense counsel argued that the encounter between Shabazz and K.M. was a "drug date." (R.110, App. 279-80 at 83:24-84:1), arguing once again that it was "the physical evidence and not the explanation of

[K.M.]" that showed what truly happened. (*Id.*, App. 278 at 82:15-16). Trial counsel specifically mentioned and argued against the counts relating to sexual assault and strangulation. (*Id.*, App. 281 at 87:4-88:12). Indeed, in closing arguments to the jury, trial counsel summarized: "[s]o when you start adding these things up, do you really have this strangulation and this supposed rape when you don't have DNA evidence to support [K.M.'s] statement...." (*Id.*, App. 283 at 89:20-23) (emphasis added).

Defense counsel did not, however, reference the counts for aggravated battery and false imprisonment during closing arguments. Although trial counsel mentioned the lack of evidence showing injury to Shabazz's hands, (*id.*, App. 283-84 at 89:23-90:6; App. 285 at 93:8-11), no substantive mention was made during closing of the elements required to sustain a charge of aggravated battery or false imprisonment, even though the State clearly had referenced those very counts and elements. (*Id.*, App. 274-77 at 74:24-77:24). The only such comment by defense counsel was a passing reference that the State had not proven that Shabazz "hung, confined or strangled the alleged victim." (*Id.*, App. 286-87 at 94:24-95:5).

The jury unanimously rejected the State's theory of first-degree sexual assault and strangulation and suffocation, and acquitted Shabazz of those charges. (R.48; R.51). The jury convicted Shabazz on the counts of aggravated battery and false imprisonment. (R.49; R.50).

C. Important Exculpatory Evidence Is Not Obtained Or Presented To The Jury During The Trial.

Notwithstanding trial counsel's central theme to the jury that they were to remember only one thing only—that "[t]he truth lies in the evidence and not the explanations of the [alleged victim and her husband]," (R.104, App. 181 at 82:2-3), key evidence that would have undermined the State's case regarding aggravated battery and false imprisonment was neither obtained nor presented to the jury.

During the preparation of his case for trial, Shabazz shared with trial counsel³ his own theory of what happened on the night of September 27, 2012. In Shabazz's view, John—whose existence K.M. acknowledged to Officer Kranz, but later denied at trial—was a friend of the victim and her husband. In Shabazz's view, John was involved in a plan to steal belongings from Shabazz. Shabazz also advised his trial counsel that K.M. had left his apartment much earlier in the evening of September 27th than she claimed at trial, and that her friend John may have picked up the alleged victim from his apartment shortly after 9:53 p.m. on September 27th.

In Shabazz's view, therefore, K.M.'s injuries would have been sustained *after* she left Shabazz's apartment, not as part of any interaction with Shabazz. And, according to Shabazz, K.M.'s and her husband's return to Shabazz's apartment after 4:00 a.m. on September 28th to break the

³ Shabazz was represented at trial by counsel appointed by the State Public Defender. There were five attorneys who represented Shabazz at different times during trial proceedings. Shabazz's claims of ineffective assistance of counsel related only to trial counsel, Attorney Robert Webb and predecessor counsel, Richard Poulson.

window of his car was in furtherance of a plan to steal valuables from Shabazz, not as revenge for an alleged assault.

In order to support his view of the case, Shabazz provided information to trial counsel and predecessor counsel regarding certain cellular telephone communications that took place during or near the time of the alleged assault. (R.70, App. 121-23). Shabazz even provided a detailed, written outline of the times of those calls to his trial counsel (R.76, Ex. B, App. 170). Based on Shabazz's recollection and his own cellular telephone, he advised his trial attorneys that the following telephone calls had taken place:

September 27 – 9:31 p.m. – Jesse McSwain, friend and power of attorney of Shabazz, telephoned Shabazz;

September 27 – 9:53 p.m. – K.M.'s friend, John, called Shabazz's telephone;

September 27 – 11:39 p.m. – Carolyn Johnson (Shabazz's former wife) telephoned Shabazz and spoke with him for several minutes. Carolyn Johnson heard no other voices or sounds in the background (other than Shabazz's voice on the telephone), nor did she hear any noises or sounds of a struggle, nor was she aware of the presence of anyone other than Shabazz in Shabazz's apartment. (R.76, Ex. A, App. 167-68 at ¶¶ 4-9);

September 28 – 4:21 a.m. – A call was placed to Shabazz's telephone from the home telephone of K.M. and her husband;

September 28 – 4:26 a.m. – A call was placed to Shabazz's telephone from the home telephone of K.M. and her husband;

September 28 – 4:27 a.m. – K.M. called Shabazz's telephone from K.M.'s telephone.

(See generally R.76, Ex. B, App. 170; R.70, App. 121-23).

Additionally, Shabazz advised his trial counsel of two calls from K.M. to Shabazz on Wednesday, September 26, 2012 at 7:38 p.m. and 11:58 p.m. Shabazz also advised his counsel of calls from K.M. to his phone at 2:32 a.m. and 11:42 a.m. in the morning of Thursday, September 27, 2012. (R.76, Ex. B, App. 170). Yet, these records were not obtained by trial counsel or predecessor counsel, nor was this evidence ever presented to the jury.

Furthermore, although Mr. McSwain, Ms. Johnson, and representatives from Samsung and U.S. Cellular had been originally included on the defense witness list, (R.28, App. 112), trial counsel removed those witnesses (with the exception of Mr. McSwain) from the amended witness list. (R.43, App. 113). No witnesses were called at trial, and no defense case was presented. (R.110, App. 273 at 43:11-13).

D. The Sentencing Court Imposes The Maximum Sentence And Expressly Orders The Defendant To Pay Two DNA Surcharges As "Punishment."

Following Shabazz's conviction, the sentencing court ordered a presentence investigation (PSI). (R.52). During the sentencing hearing, defense counsel objected to the PSI, briefly noted several inaccuracies on the record, and requested a hearing in order to address those items more fully. (R.113, App. 290-91 at 3:23-4:13). The sentencing court declined to grant a hearing to review the inaccuracies in the PSI, although it did permit counsel to note various issues briefly on the record. (*Id.*, App. 291-93 at 4:14-6:20).

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