RECEIVED

STATE OF WISCONSIN

06-23-2016

COURT OF APPEALS CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

DISTRICT I

Case No. 2015AP2605-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

DAVID L. JOHNSON, A/K/A DAVID ALI SHABAZZ,

Defendant-Appellant.

APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION AND AN ORDER DENYING POSTCONVICTION RELIEF ENTERED IN THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR MILWAUKEE COUNTY, THE HONORABLE DAVID L. BOROWSKI AND THE HONORABLE JOSEPH M. DONALD, PRESIDING

BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

BRAD D. SCHIMEL
Wisconsin Attorney General
SARAH L. BURGUNDY
Assistant Attorney General
State Bar #1071646
Attorneys for PlaintiffRespondent

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

Johnson further claimed that the calls from McSwain and his ex-wife could undermine K.M.'s testimony of what happened on September 27. He wrote:

Testimony from Mr. McSwain and/or Ms. Johnson who placed those calls to Mr. [Johnson] could have established (1) whether, and how long they spoke with Mr. [Johnson], (2) whether they were aware of the presence of [K.M.] on the premises, (3) whether they were aware that a struggle was going on during or in the background of the call, and (4) the demeanor of Mr. [Johnson].

For example, testimony by Mr. McSwain or Ms. Johnson that they were unaware that anyone else was in [Johnson's] apartment as of 9:31 p.m. or 11:39 p.m. would have supported the defense theory that [K.M.] left [Johnson's] apartment much earlier than the 3:30-4:00 a.m. time frame she claimed at trial. . . .

(70:13-14; A-Ap. 126-27.)

Johnson offered mere speculation as to those calls. Evidence of a phone call proves only the existence of that phone call, and nothing more. As for "John's" call, it cannot be used to materially support Johnson's claim that John picked up K.M. at Johnson's apartment before she sustained her injuries. Johnson never identified who John was or how any content of that call could be introduced at trial. More importantly, Johnson does not show how John's phone call, despite the compelling evidence presented by the State at trial, creates a reasonable probability of a different result given K.M.'s detailed testimony that Johnson physically battered her; her extensive injuries; testimony that the police recovered her purse and jacket at Johnson's apartment; the corroborating testimony of Officer Waldenmeyer, Nolden, and E.M. as to K.M.'s injuries; and, most damningly, DNA evidence of K.M.'s blood found on Johnson's left palm.

Likewise, records that McSwain or Johnson's ex-wife called Johnson only show that Johnson received those phone calls. To successfully claim that counsel was ineffective for failing to investigate the ex-wife's or McSwain's knowledge about the calls, Johnson must allege with specificity what the investigation would have revealed and how it would have altered the outcome of the case. *State v. Leighton*, 2000 WI App 156, ¶ 38, 237 Wis. 2d 709, 616 N.W.2d 156. *see also State v.*

Arredondo, 2004 WI App 7, ¶ 40, 269 Wis. 2d 369, 674 N.W.2d 647 (requiring defendant to allege with specificity what an uncalled witness would have said if called to testify). In his motion, Johnson simply makes best-case-scenario guesses as to what either Johnson's ex-wife or McSwain could testify to regarding the phone calls, if anything. (70:13-14; A-Ap. 126-27.) Again, given the compelling evidence at trial that Johnson beat and confined K.M., that Johnson may have received phone calls on the night of September 27 does not create a reasonable probability of a different result. Johnson offered no material facts to suggest otherwise. 6

Johnson also claimed that the telephone records would show that Johnson received phone calls from K.M. and E.M. at 4:21, 4:26, and 4:27 a.m. on September 28, which he asserted would undermine K.M.'s and E.M.'s testimony. (70:14; A-Ap. 127.) But Johnson did not explain how these phone calls

_

⁶ In his reply brief to the postconviction court, Johnson provided an affidavit from his ex-wife stating that she had called Johnson at 11:25 p.m. on September 27, 2012. (76:Exh. A; A-Ap. 167-68.) She stated that she and Johnson had talked for about a minute about an air conditioner, and that during that time Johnson sounded calm and she could not hear "any noises or sounds of a struggle" on the other end of the phone. (*Id.*) For the same reasons as those stated above, the circuit court properly concluded that that evidence, even if true, "does not in any way establish or support a finding that the result of the proceedings would have been different." (77:4 n.2; A-Ap. 109.)

contradicted any of E.M.'s testimony; in fact, they squared up with his testimony that K.M. returned to their home at 3:30 a.m.

Further, Johnson's motion ignored that evidence of those calls would more likely bolster K.M.'s and E.M.'s testimony that they went to Johnson's apartment to confront him about his attack on K.M. than it would support a theory that they were trying to steal from him. Indeed, extensive evidence at trial contradicted his alternate defense theory. K.M. and E.M. did nothing consistent with would-be thieves bent on stealing from Johnson's apartment during the early-morning hours when they were outside his apartment. To the contrary, they caused a loud disturbance by yelling that Johnson had attacked K.M., ringing doorbells, and smashing Johnson's car window. In sum, even if Johnson somehow could bring in evidence that K.M. and E.M. called him at 4:21, 4:26, and 4:27 a.m., that evidence could not reasonably support his alternate defense theory that they meant to steal from him.

Finally, Johnson also alleged that evidence that K.M. called Johnson on September 26 would undermine K.M.'s testimony that she did not visit Johnson on that day. (70:14; A-Ap. 127.) The circuit court correctly concluded that even if K.M. made that call, it was not material to K.M.'s claims that Johnson assaulted and confined her on September 27 and 28 and would not have undermined K.M.'s credibility. K.M. testified that she

could not remember whether she went to Johnson's apartment on September 26. (105:59-60; A-Ap. 208-09.) Thus, proof that K.M. called Johnson on September 26 is not relevant to whether K.M. visited him that day, her lack of memory of doing so, or her claim that Johnson attacked and confined her on September 27 and 28.

In sum, Johnson's motion alleging ineffective assistance for failing to investigate the phone records lacked sufficient, material facts showing that he was entitled to relief.⁷

2. Johnson failed to allege sufficient, material facts to show that his counsel was ineffective for failing to call "John" as a witness or present his alternate defense.

In his motion, Johnson also argued that counsel was ineffective for failing to call witnesses and investigate "John" to support a defense theory that K.M. left Johnson's apartment before she sustained injuries and that she, E.M., and John were conspiring to steal from Johnson. (70:15; A-Ap. 128.) He wrote that "[e]vidence from 'John' would have been central to the

⁷ Johnson also argued that his trial counsel's predecessor was ineffective for failing to investigate the phone records before the service provider destroyed the records. (Johnson's Br. 26-27.) For the same reasons that trial counsel was not ineffective—i.e., because evidence that Johnson received phone calls during and after the time that K.M. claimed that she was in his apartment proves nothing other than the existence of those calls, and Johnson offered nothing to establish what testimony as to the content of those calls that counsel would have discovered—he is not entitled to a hearing based on predecessor counsel's alleged failure.

defense case by not only establishing his identity, but providing clarity regarding what his relationship was to [K.M.] Furthermore, he could have testified as to why he placed a call to [Johnson] at 9:53 p.m. on the evening of September 27, 2012—right at the very time [K.M.] claimed the assault was taking place." (70:15-16; A-Ap. 128-29.)

When a defendant claims that trial counsel was deficient for failing to present testimony, he must allege with specificity what the witness would have said if called to testify. *Arredondo*, 269 Wis. 2d 369, ¶ 40. Given that Johnson did not identify who John is, let alone what John would have said in his testimony, Johnson has failed to satisfy this burden.

On appeal, Johnson argues that the circuit court should have granted a *Machner* hearing so that he could establish the significance of the phone calls and witness testimony. (Johnson's Br. 17-19.) But an "evidentiary hearing is not a fishing expedition." *State v. Balliette*, 2011 WI 79, ¶ 68, 336 Wis. 2d 358, 805 N.W.2d 334. Johnson may hope that "John" or other witnesses were available, that they would remember particular phone calls from September 2012, and that they would offer helpful testimony. But Johnson's obligation in his postconviction motion was to demonstrate that the missing witnesses would have given the testimony that he claims trial counsel should have secured. *See Arredondo*, 269 Wis. 2d 369,

¶ 40. Here, the circuit court correctly concluded that Johnson did not provide any material facts to compel an evidentiary hearing based on a failure to investigate John.

Johnson also argues that the circuit court erred because it failed to apply the Allen standard by assuming Johnson's allegations to be true. (Johnson's Br. 18-19.) Johnson misunderstands the Allen standard. While the court assumes that the factual allegations in a motion are true, it is not required to assume that Johnson's guesses and speculation are true or ignore that the record conclusively demonstrates that he is not entitled to relief. Here, the only factual allegations Johnson made in his brief were that he received a series of phone calls during the time K.M. claimed that Johnson was assaulting and falsely imprisoning her. The circuit court assumed that Johnson was telling the truth about those calls. But it was not required to assume, based on Johnson's speculation, that any of the witnesses he proposed were available or that they would have offered material testimony that had a reasonable possibility of changing the trial outcome.

Finally, as part of his complaint that counsel should have investigated "John," Johnson argued that counsel was ineffective for failing to present Johnson's alternative defense that K.M. sustained her injuries after leaving his apartment and that E.M. and K.M. (and "John") were trying to steal from him.

(Johnson's Br. 24-25.) As explained above, the record conclusively demonstrates that counsel was neither deficient nor prejudicial for failing to present that defense. The alternative defense would not have overcome the significant evidence that Johnson caused K.M.'s injuries or the utter dearth of evidence that K.M. and E.M. planned to steal from Johnson.

In sum, Johnson failed to offer sufficient, material facts in his motion. Rather, he relied on speculation and conjecture on what counsel would have discovered had he obtained the phone records and investigated the witnesses. The circuit court did not err in concluding that his pleading was insufficient under *Allen*, and hence, it did not erroneously exercise its discretion in denying Johnson's motion without a hearing.

II. Because the court's imposition of a single mandatory DNA surcharge is not an ex post facto violation, Johnson is not entitled to having it vacated.

In his postconviction motion, Johnson sought vacation of two DNA surcharges that the sentencing court imposed, arguing that the court violated ex post facto principles in imposing the surcharges because it described the charges to be "punishment." (70:17-19; A-Ap. 130-32.) The postconviction court vacated one of the surcharges, based on *State v. Scruggs*,

2015 WI App 88, 365 Wis. 2d 568, 872 N.W.2d 146,8 in which this Court held that a court's imposition of a mandatory \$250 DNA surcharge to a defendant who committed a felony when imposition of that surcharge was discretionary was not a punitive ex post facto violation. (77:6; A-Ap. 111.)

On appeal, Johnson argues that the postconviction court should have vacated both surcharges. (Johnson's Br. 28-29.) For the reasons below, the postconviction court granted Johnson all of the relief to which he is entitled.

Johnson committed his crimes against K.M. on September 27 and 28, 2012, at which point Johnson was subject to the court's discretionary imposition of a \$250 DNA surcharge at sentencing. See Wis. Stat. § 973.046(1g) (2011–12). Beginning on January 1, 2014, all defendants convicted of a felony, including felonies committed before that effective date, were subject to a mandatory \$250 DNA surcharge. See 2013 Wis. Act 20, §§ 2355, 9426(1)(am).

In State v. Radaj, 2015 WI App 50, 363 Wis. 2d 633, 866 N.W.2d 758, this Court held that the new statute was an unconstitutional ex post facto law as applied to Radaj because the statute required the court to impose a total DNA

- 20 -

⁸ The Wisconsin Supreme Court granted review of *Scruggs*; according to the court web site, it currently is briefed and set for oral argument in October 2016.

assessment of \$1000 (four times \$250) based on Radaj's four felony convictions, resulting in a punitive effect. *Id.* ¶ 35.

This Court later addressed whether a single mandatory surcharge would constitute an ex post facto violation in *Scruggs*, 365 Wis. 2d 568. There, Scruggs committed her felony before January 1, 2014, and the court imposed a single mandatory \$250 DNA surcharge at sentencing. This Court held that that imposition was not an ex post facto violation because a single surcharge is not punitive in its intent or effect, noting that the Legislature was "motivated by a desire to expand the State's DNA data bank and to offset the cost of that expansion, rather than punitive intent." *Id.* ¶ 10.

Here, the sentencing court imposed two DNA surcharges—one per conviction—on Johnson. (60:2; 113:39; A-Ap. 104, 298.) The sentencing court remarked, "He's required to provide a DNA sample and pay the DNA surcharge. The surcharge is mandatory, it's also in this case punishment, deterrence, and part of [Johnson's] rehabilitation." (113:39; A-Ap. 298.)9

Based on *Radaj* and *Scruggs*, the postconviction court vacated one of the two DNA surcharges. (77:5-6; A-Ap. 110-11.) That decision was correct. It is not an expost facto violation for

- 21 -

⁹ Although the court did not specifically state that it was imposing two surcharges, the judgment of conviction reflected a \$500 DNA surcharge. (60:2; A-Ap. 104.)

a court to impose a single mandatory DNA surcharge on a defendant who committed his crimes when the surcharge was discretionary.

Johnson argues that *Scruggs* does not apply to his situation. He agrees that this Court in *Scruggs* held that the legislative intent behind making the surcharge mandatory was not punitive. Rather, he asserts that because the sentencing court here stated that it was imposing the DNA surcharges as "punishment," that statement transformed the otherwise non-punitive surcharge into a penalty. (Johnson's Br. 30-32.)

Johnson is wrong. Whether the sentencing court believed the imposition of the surcharge was punishment does not render the legislative intent and effect of the statute punitive. Because the surcharge is mandatory, a sentencing court simply must impose it; the court need not explain its rationale. Thus, here, the court's remarks that it believed that the surcharge would punish, deter, and rehabilitate Johnson were irrelevant. The count had to impose a single mandatory surcharge regardless of its belief as to its effects.

In sum, Johnson's situation is on all fours with *Scruggs*. The court's imposition of a single mandatory DNA surcharge on Johnson is not an ex post facto violation. He is not entitled to any relief beyond what the postconviction court has already provided.

III. Johnson failed to establish that the court relied on inaccurate information at sentencing.

When reviewing a sentencing court's decision, this Court begins with the presumption that the sentencing court acted reasonably and will not interfere with its decision unless the court erroneously exercised its discretion. *State v. Lechner*, 217 Wis. 2d 392, 418-19, 576 N.W.2d 912 (1998).

A defendant has a due process right to be sentenced based on materially accurate information. *Id.* at 419. Whether the court has denied a defendant of that right is a question of law that this court reviews de novo. *State v. Tiepelman*, 2006 WI 66, ¶ 9, 291 Wis. 2d 179, 717 N.W.2d 1.

A defendant seeking resentencing on the grounds that the circuit court used inaccurate information at sentencing must show, first, that the information was inaccurate, and second, that the court actually relied on that inaccurate information in forming its sentence. *Id.* ¶ 26 (citing *Lechner*, 217 Wis. 2d at 419). If the defendant satisfies those requirements, the burden shifts to the State to prove that the error was harmless. *Id.*

Johnson failed to demonstrate that there was inaccurate information, let alone that the court relied on it. In his motion, Johnson argued that he was entitled to an evidentiary hearing and resentencing because the PSI had six specific errors or omissions. The whole of his argument there follows:

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